No. 68408-6-I

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

QUY DINH NGUYEN,

Appellant.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Julie Spector

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

THOMAS M. KUMMEROW Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

###

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The trial court's refusal to continue the post-conviction hearing to allow counsel adequate time to prepare violated Mr.
   Nguyen's right to counsel under the Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22.
- The trial court's refusal to continue the post-conviction hearing to allow counsel adequate time to prepare also violated Mr.
   Nguyen's Fifth Amendment right to due process and a fair hearing.
- 3. Mr. Nguyen's attorney rendered constitutionally deficient representation in presenting the motion to withdraw the guilty plea.

#### B. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

1. A defendant has a constitutionally protected right to counsel at all stages of the proceedings including a motion to withdraw a guilty plea. In addition, a defendant has a right to a fair hearing on a motion to withdraw a guilty plea under the due process clauses of the Washington and United States Constitutions. Here, attorney Al Kitching was appointed by the trial court to represent Mr. Nguyen in his motion to withdraw his guilty plea. Mr. Kitching was given less than a month to consult with Mr. Nguyen, whose primary language was Vietnamese, to review the discovery, none of which he was never

provided, and to consult with required experts after review of the discovery and consultation with Mr. Nguyen. The trial court denied repeated requests for additional time from Mr. Kitching, despite documented steps he had taken and were left to be taken in order to effectively represent Mr. Nguyen. Did the trial court's actions in denying Mr. Kitching the time and tools necessary to effectively represent Mr. Nguyen deny Mr. Nguyen his right to counsel and right to due process?

2. A defendant has a constitutionally protected right to counsel at all stages of the proceedings, which necessarily includes the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Here the trial court repeatedly denied Mr. Nguyen's counsel's requests for additional time and for the resources necessary to effectively represent Mr. Nguyen. Did the trial court's actions render defense counsel ineffective, thus leaving Mr. Nguyen without counsel at the hearing and subsequent sentencing?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Quy Dinh Nguyen and others were originally charged with conspiracy to manufacture marijuana with the intent to deliver, conspiracy to commit first degree murder, first degree murder, and attempted first degree murder, arising out of a marijuana grow

operation. CP 1-7. The information was later amended to charge Mr. Nguyen along with others with leading organized crime, conspiracy to commit first degree professional gambling, conspiracy to commit first degree murder, conspiracy to commit first degree assault, first degree murder, second degree murder, attempted first degree murder, and first degree assault. CP 9-14.

On the first day of trial following jury selection, October 13, 2011, Mr. Nguyen entered guilty pleas to one count of second degree murder and one count of conspiracy to lead organized crime. CP 36-44; 10/13/2011RP 3-18. On the day of sentencing, November 4, 2011, Mr. Nguyen indicated that he might want to withdraw his guilty pleas. 11/4/2011RP 15. The trial court continued the matter to December 16, 2011, to allow Mr. Nguyen's attorneys to discuss his motion with him. CP 76-78; 11/4/2011RP 15-17.

In a letter to the trial court on November 11, 2011, Mr. Nguyen asked for the appointment of new counsel, arguing among other things, that his attorneys had rendered constitutionally deficient representation. CP 79-80. On November 17, 2011, the trial court appointed Al

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Nguyen was also charged in federal court with conspiracy to manufacture marijuana and pleaded guilty to that charge as part of a negotiated agreement wherein the Government would recommend Mr. Nguyen receive the same sentence in federal court as in state court.

Kitching as Mr. Nguyen's new attorney and maintained the December 16, 2011, date for the hearing on the motion to withdraw the guilty pleas. *Id*.

On November 29, 2011, Mr. Kitching moved the court for a continuance of four to six months in order to adequately investigate the matter, consult with Mr. Nguyen and consult with experts. CP 87-91. Most importantly, Mr. Kitching noted the discovery exceeded 28,000 pages and he was required to review this discovery in order to have a clear understanding of the facts of the case and the potential issues that might need to be addressed in the hearing on Mr. Nguyen's motion to withdraw his guilty plea. CP 90-91. Mr. Kitching further noted that he had made a request for the discovery from Mr. Nguyen's former counsel, which had been ignored. CP 89-90, 92-94.

The trial court, without holding a hearing, denied Mr. Kitching's motion, asserting that the hearing was solely to determine whether Mr. Nguyen's plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, and any other issues were "collateral." RP 85-86. In its written order, the court gratuitously chastised Mr. Kitching for attempting to effectively represent his client:

Counsel may review the discovery to determine if there are collateral issues to be brought on appeal, but those

issues are not the purpose of the hearing scheduled for December 16, 2011. The issue of the hearing on December 16, 2011 is for the court to determine whether Mr. Nguyen entered his guilty plea knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily entered on October 13, 2011 [sic]. Mr. Kitching was appointed on November 29, 2011 as substitute counsel. Mr. Kitching's request to continue the hearing six months is unreasonable. Mr. Kitching has unilaterally determined that his role is to analyze whether the plea was appropriate based upon his desire to do an extensive review of the discovery, which is voluminous and consists of approximately 30,000 pages of discovery. Mr. Kitching's misapprehension of his role is the basis for an excessive continuance. The motion to continue the hearing for the stated purpose is denied.

CP 86.

On December 15, 2011, Mr. Kitching filed a second motion to continue the hearing, submitting a substantial declaration supporting the additional time required to investigate and prepare for the hearing. CP 139-74. Mr. Kitching submitted that given the short amount of time he had to familiarize himself with the matter was not sufficient to properly investigate Mr. Nguyen's claims. *Id.* Mr. Kitching noted in detail the many things he had done in the short period of time since he had been appointed. These included attempting to immediately obtain a Vietnamese interpreter since the two available interpreters were the interpreters who interpreted for Mr. Nguyen throughout his state and federal matters and whom appeared prominently in Mr. Nguyen's

motion to withdraw based upon allegations they coerced the guilty pleas and intentionally misinterpreted. CP 160-70. As a consequence, prior to the December 16 hearing, Mr. Kitching had only met with Mr. Nguyen for any significant amount of time on two occasions. CP 141-42. Mr. Kitching further noted that he was not appointed to handle merely the hearing on the motion to withdraw, but also sentencing, which required him to become familiar with an array of issues, including information specific to Mr. Nguyen, which necessarily required extensive discussions with Mr. Nguyen and his family. CP 140.

Mr. Kitching averred that in his limited discussions with Mr.

Nguyen, he had concerns about Mr. Nguyen's mental state at the time of his guilty pleas, thus necessitating the appointment of a mental health expert. CP 143-44. Mr. Kitching was able to obtain the services of Dr. Brett Trowbridge, who met with Mr. Nguyen on December 13, 2011. CP 144. Based upon this meeting, Dr. Trowbridge indicated he would need to meet with Mr. Nguyen several more times to be able to render an opinion about whether Mr. Nguyen understood the proceedings at which he pleaded guilty. CP 144.

On November 30, 2011, shortly after appointing Mr. Kitching as counsel for Mr. Nguyen, the court notified the parties it was the court's intention to complete the hearing on the plea withdrawal *and* complete sentencing at the December 16 hearing. CP 147.

At the December 16, 2011, hearing, Mr. Kitching again moved to continue the hearing on Mr. Nguyen's motion to withdraw his guilty plea. 12/16/2011RP 4-6. Mr. Kitching blithely noted that everyone at the hearing but him had been involved in the case for over three years and had extensive knowledge about the case, knowledge he lacked the time necessary to obtain to any degree despite his best efforts. *Id.* The trial court curtly interrupted Mr. Kitching and summarily denied his motion for additional time:

Well, I'm going to deny it. Let's be clear here. I think you have conflated your role since the beginning of your appointment. You've talked about collateral appellate issues; you've talked about ineffective assistance of counsel. These are all for appeal. This has nothing to do with the motion to vacate or withdraw a guilty plea.

So, I understand you have concerns; you want to go through the 27,000 pages of discovery. Your focus should be on whether or not Mr. Nguyen entered his plea knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. It's not whether he got a good deal. It's not whether you would have advised him to do the same thing. The focus of this hearing, and what this Court's responsibility, is to determine whether or not Mr. Nguyen made a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary plea. *It's that simple*. You've

conflated the issues in all of your pleadings and you've repeated your arguments over and over again.

12/16/2011RP 6-7 (emphasis added).

In reply, Mr. Kitching attempted to impress upon Judge Spector his obligations as counsel for Mr. Nguyen and the issues that required additional time to investigate to no avail:

THE COURT: Well, I'm going to deny your motion to continue. I mean there has to be a threshold showing that the plea was not valid, and you haven't made that, and I can actually sentence [Mr. Nguyen] now without going through the hearing on this. I'm not going to do that, because I think I know what our appellate friends will do.

You haven't made a threshold showing. You've thrown out a lot. By your own admission you're saying, I don't know about this, I don't know about that. I don't know, what you've done, Mr. Kitching, except put all your efforts into making two similar motions to continue based upon speculative claims.

MR. KITCHING: Well, they're speculative because I haven't had enough time to research them, judge. I haven't had time to read the discovery.

THE COURT: The motion is denied.

12/16/2011RP 8-9 (emphasis added).

The hearing on the motion to withdraw the guilty plea began with the State calling Mr. Nguyen's prior attorneys, Ms. Cruz and Mr. Todd, to testify as well as Nova Phung, one of the interpreters who

translated for Mr. Nguyen in the state and federal courts throughout the two cases. 12/16/2011RP 10-11, 74, 95. At the conclusion of the day, the hearing was not completed and the court resumed the proceeding on December 20, 2011.

At the beginning of the resumed hearing, Mr. Kitching once again moved to continue based on his previous assertions, but added additional information that had occurred in the interim:

MR. KITCHING: I just wanted to make an objection for the record, your Honor, speaking with Mr. Nguyen, yesterday or the day before yesterday.

. . .

Yes, Sunday would be the day that I spoke to him. Two things have come up, that I think would require further discovery. One, Mr. Nguyen has indicated to me, among other things, he does suffer from Post Traumatic Stress Disorder. It is not a frequent occurrence, but based on his history certain things can cause him to suffer flashbacks and also contributing to his lack of sleep and his nerves.

In addition, Your Honor, in interviewing him, it appears that Mr. Phoung had been involved with the case with Mr. Nguyen approximately 10 years ago where Mr. Phoung had, according to my client, referred him to a particular lawyer. Then actually interpreted for that private lawyer in that case and in addition, apparently, the private lawyer didn't pay Mr. Phoung. Mr. Phoung did this case at some point inquire of Mr. Nguyen if he was going to pay. To my knowledge, I don't think that any of this has been disclosed to the court.

This appears to be a violation of the exhibit submitted by the prosecutor, general rule 2(d), which indicates that both of these things are prohibited. I believe that affects Mr. Phoung's credibility. I think it is something that we need to investigate further before we proceed any further. I think it casts some doubt on the interpretation that Mr. Phoung has done in this case.

So, I think -- you know, it is like what I have been saying all along, your Honor. I find things out, I wish I had been able to talk Dr. Trobridge [sic] about his PTSD -- I wish that I had given Mr. Trobridge [sic] the defendant's information about his culture and his background, I still don't have it.

I am in effect, representing Mr. Nguyen blindly without any knowledge of the facts, the court has pointed out that I have the certification that is actually the State's position. So I am relying completely on the State's position in representations with regard to what has transpired in this case, including the basis of the plea in this case.

I think that to do -- to be as a zealous advocate have to have command of the law and the facts in my client's case, if I don't, I don't believe that I am, therefore, able to effectively represent him at this time.

12/20/2011RP 5-6. The hearing then resumed.

At the conclusion of the arguments following the hearing, Mr.

Kitching succinctly summed up his travails in attempting to represent

Mr. Nguyen in the motion to withdraw the guilty plea:

Your Honor, as I listen to Mr. Davidheiser, and I am again reminded by what I don't know in this case. Apparently, there was an incredibly damaging evidence to be given by [co-defendant] Le. I didn't know what that is. I have an idea of what it is, but I have never seen

any discovery nor has anybody ever said this is what he was going to say.

I think that I have a duty to independently figure that out for myself before I tell Mr. Nguyen one way or the other whether he should be moving to withdraw his guilty plea.

As far as the sentencing, it just is the same thing that I have said all along, judge, about the fact that I don't feel that I have had an adequate opportunity to effectively represent Mr. Dinh Quy Nguyen.

#### 12/20/2011RP 74.

In rendering its oral ruling denying Mr. Nguyen's motion to withdraw his guilty plea, the court chastised Mr. Kitching for attempting to zealously represent Mr. Nguyen:

Mr. Kitching made a tactical decision to put his efforts in the month he has been on this case towards moving this to court [sic] for a continuance. On several occasions he has been told no. He filed an 11th hour motion to renew the motion to continue. He really was not prepared to do anything but argue that motion. He is not prepared today to go forward with sentencing. He has asked for a continuance, should the court not grant the original relief requested, which is the motion to withdraw the guilty plea that the court accepted and made a finding that was entered into knowingly, intelligently, and knowingly.

12/20/2011RP 80-81. The court also acknowledged not giving Dr. Trowbridge sufficient time to examine Mr. Nguyen, erroneously concluding that the only issue was whether Mr. Nguyen's plea was

knowing, intelligent, and voluntary based solely on the court's colloquy with Mr. Nguyen and nothing more:

There has been a request that Dr. Trowbridge have some time to talk to Mr. Dinh Quy Nguyen to develop a diagnosis. The bottom line is, Dr. Trowbridge cannot go back in time and determine whether or not on the day of the plea, whether his sleep deprivation and now this newly discovered self-diagnosis of Post Traumatic Stress Disorder, which Mr. Dinh Quy Nguyen just told his counsel about on Sunday, by the way, which was December 18<sup>th</sup>, two days ago, that he somehow would be able to say on that day, with medical certainty, either his Post Traumatic Stress Disorder and/or sleep deprivation, or a combination of the two prevented him from entering into a plea knowingly and voluntarily. It is speculative at best.

It is doubtful that Mr. Dinh Quy Nguyen suffers from Post Traumatic Stress Disorder. Although, he made a declaration to his counsel and the counsel is putting before this Court that it is true.

Therefore, the court is erring by not allowing Dr. Trowbridge to ferret out this diagnosis. Let's say that he does have the diagnosis of Post Traumatic Stress Disorder. Let's say that he was sleep deprived. It doesn't take away the plea colloquy. It doesn't take away anything. The plea colloquy was rock solid. It was not a pro forma plea.

#### 12/20/2011RP 89-90.

The trial court dramatically changed direction regarding sentencing Mr. Nguyen, conceding that things were proceeding a little

too quickly and, over the State's objection, agreed to Mr. Kitching's motion to continue the sentencing:

My concern is that since that sentencing, and as a result of that sentencing, it almost taints it to go forward, because that would be based on the representations of his former counsel.

Now, Mr. Kitching has stepped in and it is not like I want to prolong this -- believe me, I don't. I want to resolve it. I think that Mr. Dinh Quy Nguyen wants to come to -- I know that there is an appeal on the very issue of the issue of continuance that was raised twice. It was continued from November to December, understanding that he needed new counsel.

I think that because the conflict arose during that hearing, and that essentially undermines or abrogates that presentation because that was from prior counsel. I think that that would be error.

I think that Mr. Kitching has suggested to the court that he want [sic] to present perhaps testimony from Mr. Dinh Quy Nguyen's family.

I think it would be a mistake, a legal mistake for the court to just accept those representations by Ms. Cruz that were made.

12/20/2011RP 107-09. The court agreed to continue the sentencing to January 20, 2012. 12/20/2011RP 110-11.

Prior to sentencing, Mr. Kitching, on behalf of Mr. Nguyen, moved the court for reconsideration of its ruling denying the motion to withdraw the guilty plea and continue the sentencing hearing. CP 187-

89. Mr. Kitching declared that he had been unable to procure copies of the discovery prior to the December 16-20, 2011, hearing. CP 193. It was not until January 20, 2012, that the State partially honored Mr. Kitching's request and provided him with discovery limited solely to co-defendant Le Nhu's federal case. CP 194. Attached to Mr. Kitching's motion was the declaration of noted defense attorney Michael Iaria, who opined that based upon the fact that Mr. Kitching had been denied access by the court to discovery, thus leaving him essentially ignorant of all that preceded his appointment, he did not have sufficient time to prepare and effectively represent Mr. Nguyen. As a result, Mr. Kitching was in a position where he could not adequately prepare for either the plea withdrawal hearing and the sentencing hearing. CP 237-43.

The court again summarily denied Mr. Kitching's motion to continue and denied the motion for reconsideration. 1/27/2012RP 13.

#### D. ARGUMENT

- 1. THE TRIAL COURT'S REFUSAL TO PROVIDE DEFENSE COUNSEL WITH SUFFICIENT TIME AND THE TOOLS NECESSARY TO EFFECTIVELY REPRESENT MR. NGUYEN DENIED HIM HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL AND RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS
- a. A court's unsupported denial of a motion to continue violates the defendant's rights to counsel and due process. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution guarantee a defendant the right to representation and due process of law. The constitution guarantees the right to counsel at all critical stages of a criminal proceeding, including sentencing. Mempa v. Rhay, 389 U.S. 128, 134-37, 19 L. Ed. 2d 336, 88 S. Ct. 254 (1967); Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799 (1963); State v. Robinson, 153 Wn.2d 689, 694, 107 P.3d 90 (2005). See also State v. Pugh, 153 Wn.App. 569, 579, 222 P.3d 821 (2009) ("A CrR 4.2(f) presentence motion to withdraw a guilty plea is a critical stage of a criminal proceeding for which a defendant has a constitutional right to be assisted by counsel."). When counsel is prevented from assisting the accused during a critical stage of the proceeding, it is presumed that there was a denial of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel. United

States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 659 n. 25, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 80 L.Ed.2d 657 (1984).

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