NO. 68408-6-I

### COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### **DIVISION I**

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

### C. ARGUMENT

At his sentencing hearing, Nguyen moved to withdraw his plea of guilty. A motion to withdraw a plea of guilty prior to judgment is governed by CrR 4.2(f). That rule states, in pertinent part, that "[t]he court shall allow a defendant to withdraw the defendant's plea of guilty whenever it appears that the withdrawal is necessary to correct a manifest

injustice." A manifest injustice is one which is obvious, directly observable, overt, and not obscure. State v. Taylor, 83 Wn.2d 594, 596, 521 P.2d 699 (1974). Four indicia of manifest injustice have been recognized by the Washington State Supreme Court: 1) the defendant was denied effective assistance of counsel; 2) the plea was not ratified by the defendant; 3) the plea was involuntary; 4) the plea agreement was not kept by the prosecution. Taylor, 83 Wn.2d at 597.

A defendant "has the burden of establishing a manifest injustice in light of all the surrounding facts of his case." State v. Dixon, 38 Wn. App. 74, 76, 683 P.2d 1144 (1984). Proving a manifest injustice is a demanding standard, made so because of the many safeguards taken when a defendant enters a guilty plea. State v. Hystad, 36 Wn. App. 42, 45, 671 P.2d 793 (1983). A trial court's denial of a defendant's motion to withdraw his plea will be overturned only in the case of an abuse of discretion. State v. Marshall, 144 Wn.2d 266, 280-81, 27 P.3d 192 (2001), abrogated on other grounds by State v. Sisouvanh, 175 Wn.2d 607, 290 P.3d 942 (2012).

Here, Nguyen does not claim that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his CrR 4.2(f) motion to withdraw his plea. He does not allege that the court applied the wrong standard in deciding his motion, or that the court erred in any of its factual findings or legal

conclusions. Indeed, Nguyen does not even assign error on appeal to the trial court's denial of his CrR 4.2(f) motion.

Instead, Nguyen attacks the trial court's denial of his motion to continue the hearing on his motion to withdraw his plea. Nguyen had sought a four- to six-month continuance in order to allow his attorney more time to prepare. CP 87-88. Like a motion to withdraw a guilty plea, "[a] motion for a continuance is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court," and the trial court's decision is reviewed for abuse of that discretion. State v. Barker, 35 Wn. App. 388, 396-97, 667 P.2d 108 (1983) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). A trial court abuses its discretion only if "no reasonable person would have taken the view adopted by the trial court." Barker, 35 Wn. App. at 397 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). Further, the trial court's denial of a motion to continue will be "disturbed only upon a showing that the accused has been prejudiced and/or that the result of the [hearing] would likely have been different had the continuance not been denied." State v. Eller, 84 Wn.2d 90, 95, 524 P.2d 242 (1974).

Here, Nguyen fails to even allege how more preparation time might have affected the outcome of the hearing. Instead, he contends that the denial of his motion to continue resulted in a denial of counsel

altogether, a denial of due process, and a denial of the effective assistance of counsel. This brief will address each of these claims in turn.

# 1. THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF NGUYEN'S MOTION TO CONTINUE DID NOT VIOLATE HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL.

Nguyen first complains that he was denied his constitutional right to assistance of counsel during his post-conviction motion to withdraw his plea of guilty. Although he acknowledges that counsel was assigned, he claims that his lawyer was given so little time to prepare for the hearing that he was effectively denied counsel. This claim is without merit.

A defendant has the constitutional right to the assistance of counsel at all critical stages of a criminal proceeding. State v. Robinson, 153

Wn.2d 689, 694, 107 P.3d 90 (2005). A pre-sentence motion to withdraw a guilty plea is a critical stage for which a defendant has the right to counsel. State v. Pugh, 153 Wn. App. 569, 579, 222 P.3d 821 (2009).

Accordingly, Nguyen was entitled to counsel for his CrR 4.2(f) motion to withdraw his plea.

An actual or constructive denial of the right to counsel renders the adversarial process unreliable, and prejudice will therefore be presumed.

Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 483, 120 S. Ct. 1029, 145 L. Ed. 2d 985 (2000). In other words, a denial of counsel is structural error,

mandating reversal.<sup>4</sup> Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 309-10, 111 S. Ct. 1246, 113 L. Ed. 2d 302 (1991); Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 43, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967). Even though a constitutional right is implicated, the trial court's decision to deny a continuance is still reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard.

State v. Sutherland, 3 Wn. App. 20, 22, 472 P.2d 584 (1970).

Here, Nguyen was neither actually nor constructively denied the right to the assistance of counsel for his motion to withdraw his guilty plea. Nguyen does not allege that he was actually denied counsel, nor could he. Attorney Al Kitching was appointed to represent Nguyen on November 18, 2011, the day after the trial court ordered new counsel be appointed to represent him, and fourteen days after Nguyen first voiced his desire to withdraw his plea. CP 89; 11/4/11RP 13-15.

Rather, Nguyen states that his right to the assistance of counsel was abridged because Kitching was "denied the time necessary to investigate and prepare for the hearing and was denied the tools he needed as well"; in other words, he was constructively denied the right to the assistance of counsel. Brief of Appellant at 17. Although the constitutional right to counsel includes a reasonable time for consultation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Nguyen alleges that he was denied the assistance of counsel during his motion to withdraw his guilty plea, not during the guilty plea itself. Accordingly, if this Court agrees and grants relief, the remedy would be to vacate the trial court's denial of the CrR 4.2(f) motion to withdraw the guilty plea, and remand for that hearing to be held anew.

and preparation, State v. Hartzog, 96 Wn.2d 383, 402, 635 P.2d 694 (1981), "[n]ot every restriction on counsel's time or opportunity to investigate or to consult with his client or otherwise to prepare for trial violates a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to counsel." Morris v. Slappy, 461 U.S. 1, 11-12, 103 S. Ct. 1610, 75 L. Ed. 2d 610 (1983) (citing Chambers v. Maroney, 399 U.S. 42, 53-54, 90 S. Ct. 1975, 26 L. Ed. 2d 419 (1970)).

Prior cases are instructive in determining whether the trial court's denial of a continuance so constrained counsel as to work a constructive denial of the assistance of counsel. The seminal case, as Nguyen points out, is Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 53 S. Ct. 55, 58, 77 L. Ed. 158 (1932). Powell and his co-defendants were indicted on capital charges. At arraignment, the court appointed as counsel "all the members of the bar." Id. at 49. When the case was called for trial six days later, no one "answered for the defendants or appeared to represent or defend them." Id. at 53. An attorney from Tennessee, sent to Alabama by "people who were interested in the case," then agreed to represent the defendants if a local attorney also assisted him. Id. The court accepted this arrangement, and the cases proceeded to trial that day; the defendants were convicted and sentenced to death. Id. at 50, 57. The Supreme Court, in examining whether "the defendants were in substance denied the right of counsel,"

held that the appointment of counsel was either "so indefinite or so close upon the trial as to amount to a denial of effective and substantial aid in that regard." Id. at 52, 53.

By contrast, in <u>Avery v. Alabama</u>, 308 U.S. 444, 60 S. Ct. 321, 84 L. Ed. 377 (1940), the defendant was arraigned on a charge of murder for a crime that had occurred six years earlier. Two local attorneys were appointed to represent the accused at that time. The case was called for trial three days later. Both counsel moved for a continuance, on the grounds that they had been in court on other matters during the intervening days, and had not had the time or opportunity to investigate and prepare the defense. <u>Id.</u> at 447. The motion to continue was denied; the case proceeded to trial, and the defendant was convicted and sentenced to death the same day. <u>Id.</u> at 448-49.

The Supreme Court upheld the conviction. The Court acknowledged that "the denial of opportunity for appointed counsel to confer, to consult with the accused and to prepare his defense, could convert the appointment of counsel into a sham and nothing more than a formal compliance with the Constitution's requirement that an accused be given the assistance of counsel. The Constitution's guarantee of assistance of counsel cannot be satisfied by mere formal appointment."

Id. at 446 (footnote omitted). However, the Court held that the

representation provided was zealous and not a mere formality. <u>Id.</u> at 450. Accordingly, the constrained time in which counsel had to prepare for trial did not work a constructive denial of counsel, for which reversal would be required without any showing of prejudice. <u>Id.</u> at 445-46, 453.

Similarly, in <u>United States v. Cronic</u>, 466 U.S. 648, 104 S. Ct. 2039, 80 L. Ed. 2d 657 (1984), the Supreme Court considered a case where a defendant charged with mail fraud was assigned a real estate attorney who had never tried a case to represent him. That attorney was given 25 days to prepare for trial; the government had spent four-and-a-half years investigating the case, which involved reviewing thousands of documents. <u>Id.</u> at 649. The Court rejected the defendant's argument that he had been denied the assistance of counsel guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment. <u>Id.</u> at 666. Specifically, the Court held that, unless the surrounding circumstances were such that there was a breakdown in the adversarial process, prejudice would not be presumed; instead, the defendant would be required to show ineffective assistance of counsel. <u>Id.</u> at 662, 666.

The case at bar is entirely unlike <u>Powell</u>. Moreover, the circumstances of the representation are far better than those deemed adequate – for the limited purpose of determining whether a trial court's

actions had worked a constructive denial of counsel – in <u>Avery</u> and Cronic.

Here, Kitching was not tasked with preparing for trial, but with assisting a defendant in his motion to withdraw a plea, predicated on his specific and narrow claim that he had been unaware that he was pleading to the crime of murder. Kitching was a member of the local bar with thirty years of experience in criminal defense. CP 139. He provided significant and material assistance in support of Nguyen's motion.

For instance, Kitching interviewed Nguyen's prior counsel in advance of the hearing. 12/16/11RP 7. In fact, he subpoenaed one of Nguyen's attorneys, Brian Todd, to testify. 12/16/11RP 71. He subpoenaed records from the King County Jail in support of his client's new claim that he was overtired at the time of his plea. CP 143. He retained a mental health expert, Dr. Trowbridge, to evaluate Nguyen with respect to that new allegation. 12/16/11RP 8. Dr. Trowbridge did an initial assessment, Kitching subpoenaed him to testify, and the State ultimately stipulated to his proffered testimony. 12/16/11RP 8, 91-92; CP 178. Because Nguyen also made a new claim that his interpreter coerced him into pleading guilty, Kitching interviewed that interpreter, Nova Phung, and called him as a witness at the hearing. CP 145; 12/16/11RP 73-74. Kitching filed a written brief in support of Nguyen's

motion to withdraw his plea, and he made reasonable argument on his client's behalf as well. CP 278-88; 12/20/11RP 54-65, 76-79.

There is nothing in the record of the CrR 4.2(f) motion and hearing that would support a conclusion that Kitching was not functioning as the counsel envisioned by the Sixth Amendment. There was no "breakdown in the adversarial process." Cronic, 466 U.S. at 662. Instead, counsel vigorously served as a meaningful adversary to the State. See id. at 666. Based on the significant amount of work actually done by Kitching – especially in light of the limited nature of the claim initially made by Nguyen – it cannot be said that Nguyen was actually or constructively denied the right to be represented by counsel. Accordingly, no structural error mandating reversal occurred. Instead, to obtain relief, Nguyen must prove that he was denied due process or the effective assistance of counsel.

# 2. THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF NGUYEN'S MOTION TO CONTINUE DID NOT VIOLATE DUE PROCESS.

Nguyen also argues that the trial court's denial of his motion to continue served to deny him due process. He does not specify exactly how he was denied his right to a fair hearing, beyond the contention that his attorney had inadequate time to prepare. However, under the circumstances of this case, Kitching had adequate time to prepare for the

limited issues that the CrR 4.2(f) motion hearing would address.

Moreover, Nguyen has failed to show how the denial of a continuance caused him actual prejudice. His due process claim should be rejected.

The right to due process of law before a deprivation of liberty is guaranteed by both the federal and Washington constitutions. U.S. CONST. amend. V, XIV, § 1; WASH. CONST. art. I, § 3. In a criminal case, due process encompasses many rights, but fundamentally it is the right to notice and an opportunity to defend. E.g., State v. Karas, 108 Wn. App. 692, 699, 32 P.3d 1016 (2001); see also Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 333-34, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976). In other words, due process guarantees a fair trial in a fair tribunal. In re Davis, 152 Wn.2d 647, 692, 101 P.3d 1 (2004); see also Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984) ("Thus, a fair trial is one in which evidence subject to adversarial testing is presented to an impartial tribunal for resolution of issues defined in advance of the proceeding.").

Here, Nguyen has failed to specify what component of due process he was denied when the trial court refused to continue his CrR 4.2(f) motion. Of course, the right to counsel, and the right to effective assistance of counsel, are elements of due process protected by the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. Gideon v.

Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 338, 83 S. Ct. 792, 9 L. Ed. 2d 799 (1963); Strickland, 466 U.S. at 684-85. To the extent that Nguyen uses the term "due process" to refer to these rights, this brief addresses them in sections C.1, supra, and C.3, infra. If Nguyen intends to invoke some additional aspect of due process, he has failed to identify it with any particularity.

Certainly, a denial of a continuance may work to deprive a defendant of due process. "In a criminal case constitutional issues are raised where it can be said denial of a continuance deprived the defendant of a fair trial. There is, however, no mechanical test for deciding when denial of a continuance is violative of due process, and the answer must be found in the circumstances present in the particular case." Sutherland, 3 Wn. App. at 22. Under the circumstances of this case, though, the trial court's denial of Nguyen's motion to continue was not an abuse of discretion.

First, although the trial court did limit the amount of time that Kitching had to prepare for the motion hearing, the scope of the hearing was narrow. As discussed above, in moving to withdraw his plea, the defendant bears the burden of proving that withdrawal is necessary to correct a manifest injustice. CrR 4.2(f); <u>Dixon</u>, 38 Wn. App. at 76. A manifest injustice is one that is "obvious, directly observable, overt, [and]

not obscure." <u>Pugh</u>, 153 Wn. App. at 577 (citation omitted) (alteration in original).

The trial court initially allowed Nguyen to make his motion based on his claim that he was unaware that he had pled guilty to the crime of murder. 11/4/11RP 14-17. Clearly, if a defendant did not understand to what crime he has entered a plea of guilty, there has been a manifest injustice warranting withdrawal of his plea.

Kitching, however, sought four to six months to read the discovery, evaluate the performance of prior defense counsel, conduct investigation, retain experts, "independently assess the strengths and weaknesses of the State's evidence," and take other steps to discover whether there were other bases to support withdrawal of Nguyen's plea. CP 87-91. A basis for withdrawal of a plea that could only be uncovered after such a thorough investigation is one that is obscure, not one that is obvious, directly observable, or overt.

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